IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC05-914

ALLEN W. COX, Appellant, v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ERIC PINKARD ASSISTANT CCRC-MIDDLE FLORIDA BAR NO: 651443 OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 3801 CORPOREX PARK DRIVE SUITE 210 TAMPA, FL 33609-1004 (813) 740-3544 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 5, 1999, a Lake County Grand Jury returned an indictment charging Allen Ward Cox, the appellant, with the first-degree murder¹ of Thomas M. Baker, Jr. The indictment also charged one count of battery in a detention facility.² The victim of the battery was Lawrence Wood, another inmate. (I 1) Immediately prior to jury selection, appellant pled guilty to count II of the indictment, battery in a detention facility. (ROA-XII 411-20)

During the case-in-chief, an inmate witness who had become hostile to the defense blurted out an unresponsive answer that revealed that appellant was serving two life sentences. The trial court denied Mr. Cox's subsequent motion for mistrial but did give a curative instruction. (ROA-XXII 2463-77)

Appellant presented the testimony of several other witnesses, introduced physical evidence, and testified in his own behalf. The defense rested and renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (ROA-XXIII 2713-14)

The state presented three witnesses in rebuttal. (ROA-XXIII 2722-XIV 2818) Appellant presented one witness in surrebuttal. (ROA-XIV 2823-27)

¹ § 782.04(l)(a)(l), Fla. Stat. (1998).

² §§ 784.03, 784.02, Fla. Stat. (1998).

Appellant's renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied. (ROA-XIV 2837)

A penalty phase commenced on March 16, 2000. (ROA-XXV 3035) Appellant attempted to stipulate to his prior violent felony convictions. Appellant's offer was rebuffed by the state and denied by the trial court. (ROA-XI 220-29; ROA-XXV 3036- 41, 3089) The state's entire case-in-chief at the penalty phase consisted of the testimony from five victims of appellant's prior violent felony convictions. (ROA-XXV 3090-3136)

Appellant presented the testimony of several family members and a mental health expert during the penalty phase case-in-chief. (ROA-XXV 3147-3200; ROA-XXVI 3279, 3326-3400; ROA-XXVII 3401-16, 3503-3600) The state presented several witnesses in rebuttal.. (ROA-XXVII 3417-48; ROA-XXVIII 3612-3750) Appellant recalled one witness in surrebuttal. (ROA-XXVIII 3751-55)

The jury recommended death. Following a *Spencer* hearing the trial court sentenced Mr. Cox to death. *Cox v. State*, 819 So. 2d 705, 709 (Fla. 2002)

The trial court found the following aggravating circumstances: (1) the capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment; (2) the defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence; (3) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel; and (4) the capital felony was committed in a cold,

calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. *Id.* at 710 fn. 4.

The trial court found the following mitigators: (1) severe domestic violence in Cox's childhood home - slight weight; (2) Cox's mother was very cruel and unpredictable - slight weight; (3) Cox's mother was very cruel to the children slight weight; (4) frequently absent father who failed to protect Cox from mother's physical abuse – slight weight; (5) Cox's mother was emotionally unstable – slight weight; (6) Cox was forced to haul firewood as a small child until he dropped from physical exhaustion – slight weight; (7) Cox's parents divorced and remarried only to divorce again - some weight; (8) Cox has no happy memories from his childhood – slight weight; (9) Cox's mother abandoned him when he was eleven years old, forcing his father to send him to his grandmother's house for her to raise - some weight; (10) Cox was the frequent victim of inconsistent and unpredictable patterns of discipline as a child – no separate weight; (11) Cox's mother failed to demonstrate any maternal affection - no additional weight; (12) Cox grew up feeling unwanted, unloved, and worthless – no additional weight; (13) Cox is able to form friendships – slight weight; (14) Cox suffers from dysthymic disorder, a chronic depressive disorder unrelated to substance abuse; the disorder is amenable to treatment – slight weight; (15) Appellant has been diagnosed additionally with adjustment disorder with depression; major depressive disorder, recurrent and

severe; anti-social personality; alcohol dependence; and mixed personality disorder - slight weight; (16) Cox has been on antidepressant medication since 1991 - no additional weight; (17) Cox suffers from severe depression – no additional weight; (18) Cox attempted suicide once in his youth and still has suicidal thoughts – slight weight; (19) Cox demonstrates brain impairment possibly from a head injury or a congenital birth defect or both – slight weight; (20) Cox's early childhood left him with feelings of hopelessness, insecurity, rejection, and inadequacy – no additional weight; (21) Cox was severely injured in a motorcycle accident when he was sixteen rendering him unconscious - no additional weight; (22) Cox suffers from very rigid and repetitive thinking – no additional weight; (23) Cox is alienated and isolated and is distrustful of others – little weight; (24) Cox suffers from a severely impaired spectrum of emotional responses – slight weight; (25) as a result of his childhood, Cox has no sense of moral development – no additional weight; (26) Cox's mental illness could have been treated and controlled with medication or counseling or both – no additional weight; (27) at the time of the offense, Cox's ability to exercise good judgment was impaired – no additional weight; (28) Cox behaved well throughout these court proceedings – some weight; (29) Cox's moral development was similar to a retarded person – no additional weight; (30) Cox is able to function and grow in prison – some weight; (31) Cox is loved by his family

slight weight; and (32) Cox is a human being – no additional weight. *Id.* at 710;
fn 4.

Mr. Cox appealed the judgment and sentence of the lower court to the Florida Supreme Court. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Cox's conviction and sentence of death. *Id.* at 725.

Mr. Cox petitioned the United States Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari *Cox v. Florida*, 537 U.S. 1120 (2003). The United States Supreme Court denied Mr. Cox's petition. *Id*.

On January 6, 2004 Mr. Cox timely filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence pursuant to rule 3.851 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. (ROA-PC-Vol I at 1-71) On April 19, 2005, following an evidentiary hearing, the lower court denied Mr. Cox's motion. (ROA-PC-Vol II 349-387) On May 13, 2005 Mr. Cox filed a timely Notice of Appeal, and this Brief follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

State's Guilt Phase Case-in-Chief

The killing at issue occurred at Lake Correctional Institute (hereinafter LCI) near Clermont, Florida. In December, 1998, LCI was home to almost 1,000 inmates. (ROA-XV 1027-32) The prison was also a "psych camp", in the vernacular, meaning that many of the inmates suffered some form of mental illness. The facility included a 180 bed mental health unit that housed inmates in a secure facility. (ROA-XV 1032) LCI was also home to approximately 200 inmates on out- patient status who took medication and received therapy. However, they worked alongside the rest of the inmates on the compound. (ROA-XV 1033-49)

On December 21, 1998, Thomas Baker, Jr. was stabbed in the prison yard near the canteen. After he was stabbed, Baker ran to corrections officer Susan Parker's post in C-dorm, arriving at approximately 12:45 p.m. Baker told Officer Parker that he had been stabbed. Baker seemed to be in some distress. (ROA-XV 1116-22) Officer Parker called for assistance and began ministering to inmate Baker. Once Baker's shirt was removed, Officer Parker noticed a small puncture wound in his back. (ROA-XV 1122) Officer Parker asked Baker who had stabbed him. Baker responded, "Big Al, Echo dorm, quad 3."³ (ROA-XV 1050-52, 1129)

³ Further questioning revealed that Baker did not know his assailant's Christian name. (XV 1129)

Unfortunately for inmate Baker, medical help was not immediately forthcoming. (ROA-XV 1050-52) Although the puncture wound in Baker's back was not bleeding externally, Baker exclaimed that his lungs were filling up with blood. Additionally, the corrections staff noticed blood trickling from Baker's mouth. Rather than wait for the emergency cart any longer, several officers put Baker on a stretcher and took him to the medical unit. (ROA-XV 1050-52, 1165)

Thomas Baker lost consciousness and died approximately fifteen minutes after the initial attack. The cause of death was a single stab wound to the chest accompanied by internal blood loss. (ROA-XIV 996) The fatal wound was to the left side of Baker's back below the shoulder blade. The wound entered the chest cavity between two ribs, went through the midpoint of his left lung, through the aorta, and then into the right lung. The wound measured almost seven inches in depth. (ROA-XIV 991-93) The autopsy also revealed a few small bruises, scratches or abrasions on various parts of Baker's body. (ROA-XIV 991) The medical examiner also noted two very shallow, non-life-threatening puncture wounds, one to each of Baker's sides. (ROA-XIV 991)

After the stabbing, Captain Johnson ordered the entire compound locked down. (ROA-XV 1058-60) Scrutiny of the bunk roster of Echo dorm, specifically Quad 3, revealed an inmate by the name of Allen Cox, the appellant. (ROA-XV 1055-56, 1216-17) Officer Joseph McBrayer took Cox into custody near his dorm without incident. Appellant seemed calm and composed without any signs of intoxication or drug use. He had no noticeable blood on his clothing. (ROA-XVI 1216-22, 1237-40) The only eyewitnesses to the stabbing and the events leading up to the homicide were fellow inmates at the prison. Of course, all of these witnesses had prior felony convictions which were used as impeachment. Additionally, several of the eyewitnesses were psychiatric patients who were taking psychotropic drugs on a daily basis. (ROA-XVII1524-26, ROA- XVIII 1688-91, 1778-79) All of the information concerning the prelude to and the homicide itself came from these inmate witnesses.

On Sunday, December 20, 1998, the day before the murder, Allen Cox discovered that the footlocker in his "house" (cell) had been burglarized. His property had been stolen. He was angry.⁴ Cox stood on top of the balcony railing that day and announced to all of the inmates within earshot, that he would pay a \$50.00 reward for the name of the culprit. He eventually raised the reward to \$100.00 and promised the informant anonymity. Cox said that if he found the culprit, he would kill him.⁵ Cox added that he did not care about the consequences.

⁴ This was not the first time that Cox had been victimized. (XX 2072-78, XXIII 2671)

⁵ In prison vernacular, "kill" did not necessarily mean to end one's life . It generally meant the meant the declarant intended to "mess up" or "beat up" someone. (XVII 1440-41, 1538-39; XVIII 1785-86)

He announced that he was not afraid of a life sentence. Other inmates heard him say that he could do his time on death row with a color television. (ROA-XVI 1385-97, 1405, 1432-34; ROA_XVII 1527-30; ROA- XVIII1647-49, XX 2055-56)

At approximately 7:30 a.m. on Monday, the next day, Tony Wilson, a black homosexual inmate, began fighting with Thomas Baker, the eventual murder victim. Baker was upset that Tony Wilson had purportedly told Allen Cox that Baker was the thief. Baker and Wilson had had a prior feud when Tony's "sugar daddy", Dancing Willie, stole Baker's shoes. ROA_XVII 1506-15; ROA-XVIII 1696-1707) After his fight with Tony Wilson, Baker asked another inmate to watch his back. The inmate assumed that Baker feared retribution from Dancing Willie. (ROA-XVII 1508-9)

Later that day, during the noon hour, many of the inmates had finished their lunch chow. Almost 200 inmates had gravitated around the canteen where they could buy snacks and pick up mail. (ROA-XVII1462-69) Right before lunch that day, Cox told Robert Nies that Dancing Willie and Tony were accusing Thomas Baker of the theft in hopes of getting the reward money. Cox told Nies that he did not think that Baker committed the theft. (ROA-XVIII1720-21, 1728-30) Shortly before the murder Gerald Hatcher was standing near the canteen. Hatcher saw Cox walking with two other inmates. As they walked by, Hatcher heard someone say, "I believe in my heart that he did it and I think you should kill the little bastard." (ROA-XVII 1498-99)

Melvin Young was eating ice cream near the canteen at chow time. He noticed Cox call Baker off the handball court in order to talk. (ROA-XVIII 1650-53) Several inmates heard a commotion. They looked up and saw Allen Cox fighting with Thomas Baker. Cox was on top of Baker and was punching him. During the fight, Baker yelled "I ain't got it!" (ROA-XVII 1450-58) At one point Baker got up, but Cox grabbed him and threw him to the ground. Cox then pulled a shank from his waistband and stabbed Baker once is the back. (ROA-XVII 1593-97, 1650-53, 1738- 50). Someone in the crowd yelled, "Man, you're going to kill him." (ROA-XVIII 1745) After the admonition from the crowd, Cox seemed to let up and hit Baker with a knife a couple of times below the waist. (ROA-XVIII1758) Cox then stopped the attack, got up, and walked away. Some inmates heard Cox say, "I've got one more of you [mothers] to get." (ROA-XVII1450-58, 1483, 1594-97; ROA-XVIII 1738-50; ROA-XX 2059) One inmate noticed that Cox stuck his weapon inside his jacket sleeve and walked away between the weight pile and the pump house. (ROA-XVIII 1653)

Meanwhile, Baker got up and ran. He fell near the canteen but got up and ran to C-dorm. (ROA-XVII1598-99, 1650-53) A few inmates noticed blood coming from Baker's mouth as he ran for help.

Robert Nies watched as guards and another inmate ministered to Baker as they waited for medical attention. (ROA_XVIII 1692-94) Nies later saw Cox by the canteen. Nies told Cox that he thought Baker was going to die. Cox responded, "I'm tired of this shit. Maybe they will just give me the electric chair." (ROA-XVIII 1694-95)

After the stabbing, Cox returned to his cell where he punched his cellmate Lawrence "Woody" Wood.⁶ As he hit Woody, another inmate heard Cox accusing Woody of stealing his money. Cox told Woody, "I got your friend, [mother]. You're lucky I put it up or I'd get your ass." (ROA-XX 2078-83) Cox then left Edorm and was arrested shortly thereafter. As Cox was leaving the dorm, he encountered Donny Cox (no apparent relation) on the steps.⁷ Cox asked Donny if Woody had given him the stolen money. After Donny denied any knowledge,

⁶ Immediately prior to the start of the trial, appellant pled guilty to count II of the indictment which charged the battery of Lawrence Wood while in a detention facility. (XII 411)

⁷ Of the numerous inmates who testified at trial, Donny Cox held the record for the most felony convictions with 54. (XVIII 1780)

appellant reportedly said, "If I find out whose got my money, I'm killing you, too." (ROA_XVIII 1780-82)

After locking down the compound, police decided that "Big Al" was Allen Cox, the appellant. (ROA-XVI1216-17) They took Cox into custody. A pat down revealed no weapons. (ROA-XVII 1217-19) Police did not tell Cox why they were taking him into custody. He cooperated and went with them willingly. They found no blood on appellant's clothing. (ROA -XVI1222) Investigators searching the next day found a shank (a homemade knife) in a pipe near the pump house. (ROA-XVI 1244-51, 1257-58, 1293-96, 1324-25) It was not uncommon to find homemade weapons like this on the compound at LCI. (ROA-XVI 1326)

Mr. Cox's Case-in-Chief at the Guilt Phase

Dr. Reeves, a forensic pathologist, examined the autopsy results. Dr. Reeves concluded that the knife found by police and attributed to the appellant could not possibly have inflicted the fatal wound on Thomas Baker. (ROA-XXI 2251 - 54, 2262) Specifically, Dr. Reeves pointed out that the knife admitted into evidence by the state was three inches too short to cause a wound that deep.⁸ (ROA-XX 2175-2200;ROA- XXI 2210-14) While elasticity (compression of the tissue) could

⁸ The fatal stab wound measured between 7 and 8 inches while the knife in question had a blade shorter that 5 inches. (XXI 2219-21, 2228-31, 2245-48)

explain a deeper wound than the length of the knife, Reeves did not believe a three inch excursion in that location would not be possible.⁹ (ROA-XXI2210-14) Reeves also would expect some trace of blood would remain on the blade, especially since the knife was so crude.¹⁰ (ROA-XXI 2217-19)

Appellant also called Vincent Maynard, aka Pig, another inmate in the prison. Appellant's case suggested that Maynard was the true assailant. Allen Cox had owed Vincent Maynard \$500.00 for several months. When Maynard found out that Cox was "holding out" on him, Maynard became upset.¹¹

Maynard saw Tony Wilson and Thomas Baker fight that morning after Wilson accused Baker of the burglary. (ROA-XXI 2281-83) Wilson warned Baker that Baker had better get a knife and should watch,his back. (ROA-XXI 2283-85)

⁹ Such an occurrence would fracture the ribs. Baker's ribs were not fractured.

¹⁰ The state found no blood on the knife.

¹¹ It became obvious that Cox had previously had enough money to repay his debt to Maynard when Cox announced that \$500.00 had been stolen from his footlocker.

Maynard also saw the fight between Cox and Baker after it started.¹² Maynard walked with Cox to the canteen that day. Maynard assured Cox that Baker was not the thief. Cox asked Maynard to give him a moment alone to talk with Baker. A short while later, Maynard heard the commotion and looked up to see the fight. Baker appeared to be reaching for a weapon, when Cox beat him to the punch and pulled out his shank. (ROA-XXI2298-2305) Cox stabbed Baker three times. Throughout the incident, Cox was white as a ghost and incoherent. He seemed not to comprehend what anyone said. (ROA_XXI 2304-6)

Allen Cox testified at the guilt phase. He stated Woody had been his roommate for less than thirty days when Cox's money disappeared from his footlocker. Cox offered a \$50.00 reward but did not threaten the culprit. Cox only wanted the burglar to move out of his quad. (ROA-XXIII 2616- 22) Tony Wilson told Cox that he had seen Thomas Baker coming out of Cox's room with a canteen bag. Cox knew about the prior problems between Wilson and Baker. Cox believed that Tony was trying to set Baker up as the fall guy. (ROA-XXIII 2622-24)

On the morning of the murder, Dancing Willie (Tony's "sugar daddy") and several of his friends paid a visit to Cox. The group attempted to collect the

¹² Maynard and Cox had been drinking buck (homemade prison wine), smoking pot and eating pills (Kolonpins) all weekend. This continued into Monday morning. As a result, Cox was hung over, white as a ghost and "pretty out of it." (ROA-XXI 2291-94)

reward money pointing out that Tony had identified Thomas Baker as the burglar. Cox refused to pay contending that they were attempted to set up Baker. (ROA-XXIII 2625-26) Cox subsequently armed himself with a knife that day. He was afraid that Dancing Willie and his friends would make good on their threats to return for the money. (ROA-XXIII 2627-28; XXI 2286-90)

Meanwhile, Cox talked to Vincent Maynard that morning. Maynard was upset that Cox had not repaid his debt. (ROA-XXIII 2628-30) Cox skipped lunch that day and went right to the canteen for his mail. He saw Maynard and Baker there together. Cox asked Maynard for a moment alone with Baker so that he could assure Baker that he knew that he was innocent. Before he could say anything, Baker showed Cox that he was armed with a knife and was not afraid. Baker angrily denounced Cox for his failure to repay Maynard. Cox grabbed Baker's knife hand and hit him in the face. (ROA-XXIII 2634-39) Maynard ran up and entered the fray. Maynard pulled out a knife and tried to stab Cox in the side. Cox retreated such that Baker was pulled between him and Maynard's knife. Maynard stabbed Baker in the back as Maynard lunged at Cox. (ROA-XXIII 2640-41)

Cox was still struggling with Baker. Maynard had been pushed into the bushes. Cox knocked Baker to the ground and forced him to drop his knife. Once he had Baker on the ground, Cox pulled out his knife and asked what he had done with the stolen money. Baker claimed that he gave it all to Woody. As Cox started to leave, Baker began kicking. Cox then poked Baker lightly in the buttocks region of his buttocks. (ROA-XXIII 2641-42) Cox then hid the knife in the pipe behind the pump house, went back to his cell, and inflicted the beating on Woody. (ROA-XXIII 2641-42)

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