IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALLEN W. COX,

Appellant,

v. Case No. SC05-914

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The court noted that defense expert, Dr. Henry Dee, testified at the evidentiary hearing that Appellant's ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Dr. Dee also testified that he did not find that Appellant was psychotic at the time of the crime and admitted that he had no serious disagreements with Dr. McMahon's testimony at the penalty phase. (PCR V2:376-77).

The court compared the evidentiary hearing testimony from the mental health experts to the testimony presented at the penalty phase, and noted that Dr. Berland's and Dr. Dee's opinions were refuted by the testimony of Dr. Michael Gutman, a psychiatrist specializing in head injuries, Helen Ridenour, a psychological specialist at Lake Correctional Institution, Dr. McMahon, Appellant's medical records, his statements to investigators, and the forensic assessment form he filled out for his attorneys. (PCR V2:377-81).

422, 426 (Fla. 1990)." (PCR V2:379-80). The court ultimately concluded that trial counsel was not deficient in relying on the report and testimony of an eminently qualified forensic psychologist. As the court properly noted, "[m]erely locating another witness whose testimony is more favorable than that of a trial witness does not establish deficient performance. Fennie v. State, 855 So. 2d 597, 606 (Fla. 2003)." (PCR V2:381).

In asserting that trial counsel was ineffective, collateral counsel also arques that co-counsel, Jeff Higgins, inexperienced and did not meet the minimum qualifications for death penalty counsel. Appellant relies on Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.112, Minimum Standards for Attorneys in Capital Cases, to argue that co-counsel was ineffective. argument is without merit for a number of reasons. First, the standards set forth in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.112 did not take effect until July 1, 2000; months after Appellant's trial was complete. 26 See <u>In re: Amendment to Florida Rules of</u> <u>Criminal Procedure - Rule 3.112 Minimum</u> Standards for Attorneys in Capital Cases, 759 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1999) ("This rule shall become effective and apply to the appointment of counsel made after July 1, 2000."). More importantly, as the committee notes to the rule clearly state, the standards set forth in the rule

 $^{^{26}}$ The trial court recognized that this rule was not in effect at the time of Appellant's trial. (PCR V2:354).

are not intended to establish any legal rights. Rather, the committee specifically noted that in order to establish postconviction relief, a defendant must show ineffective assistance of counsel and <u>Strickland</u> is the controlling precedent for that determination. Additionally, co-counsel Higgins was not involved in the penalty phase investigation or presentation of evidence to any substantial degree. Attorney Higgins testified that his involvement in the penalty phase primarily consisted of performing legal research regarding the potential aggravating factors. (PCR V5:100-01).

Likewise, Appellant's contention that trial counsel Stone's actions in Kentucky are evidence of substandard investigation is also without merit. Appellant faults the lower court for failing to resolve the factual discrepancy between Ray Cox's testimony and attorney Stone's testimony regarding an incident when attorney Stone became sick and vomited one night.²⁷ Clearly, the reason the court did not address this issue is because it was simply not relevant to the court's determination that counsel was not ineffective. The testimony surrounding this incident demonstrated that one evening after conducting his

Ray Cox testified that attorney Stone became so intoxicated he could not drive and eventually became so ill that he vomited in Mr. Cox's car. Attorney Stone testified that he only had one drink and became ill as a result of the food he ate while staying in Kentucky.

investigation, counsel and Ray Cox went out to dinner at a local tavern. Although there was a discrepancy as to what caused attorney Stone to become ill, the fact remains that Appellant has failed to show how this had any relevance to counsel's mitigation investigation. Trial counsel spent a considerable amount of time in Kentucky interviewing witnesses and taking photographs, and even if Ray Cox's testimony was credited over that of an officer of the court, it fails to demonstrate any deficient performance.

In this case, it is not even necessary to address the second prong of Strickland to determine whether Appellant has made a showing of prejudice because he has failed to establish the deficiency prong. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697 ("There is no reason for a court deciding an ineffective assistance claim . . . to address both components of the inquiry if the defendant makes an insufficient showing on one."). Trial counsel thoroughly investigated the potential mitigation in this case and made the strategic decision to present this evidence via four witnesses, Appellant's grandmother, father, sister, and a mental health expert witness. The lower court found that counsel was not deficient, but even if counsel were deemed deficient, Appellant failed to establish any prejudice. (PCR V2:380-83).

In sum, the trial court properly rejected Appellant's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate or present potential mitigating evidence. The court properly noted that Dr. McMahon's evidentiary hearing testimony summed up the totality of the allegations and evidence presented in postconviction proceeding as simply "more of the same." V2:380). As the court correctly noted, the evidence presented at the postconviction proceedings "repeats or expands upon the evidence presented at trial, but does not in any significant way add to what this Court and the jury already knew." (PCR Trial counsel conducted an extremely thorough investigation into potential mitigation and hired an extremely qualified mental health expert to assist in the investigation. Counsel made the strategic decision to present testimony from three or four good witnesses at the penalty phase and chose the family members who were most familiar with Appellant and who could best describe his upbringing. In addition to Appellant's grandmother, Hazel Cox, trial counsel also presented the testimony of Appellant's father and sister, and the testimony of the mental health expert, Dr. Elizabeth McMahon. Because Appellant has failed to carry his burden of establishing deficient performance and prejudice, this Court should affirm the lower court's order denying Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL IN THE GUILT POHASE OF APPELLANT'S TRIAL.

Appellant asserts that the trial court erred in denying his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel in the guilt phase of his trial and raises numerous subclaims. The State submits that the trial court properly denied the motion based on Appellant's inability to establish deficient performance and prejudice as required by Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

A. Counsel Never Conceded Appellant's Guilt During Opening Statements

arques that defense counsel Higgins Appellant was ineffective for conceding in opening statements that Cox stabbed and killed Thomas Baker. Appellant's argument on this issue is based on the faulty premise that trial counsel conceded Cox's guilt during opening statements. Collateral counsel alleges that trial counsel conceded Appellant's guilt despite the fact that the transcribed opening statement clearly indicates that counsel did not concede guilt and trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he never conceded Appellant's guilt, in the opening statement, or at any other point during the trial.

The case law is clear that the proper test for attorney performance on this issue is that of reasonably effective

assistance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). The two-prong test for ineffective assistance of established in Strickland requires a defendant to show deficient performance by counsel and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. In any ineffectiveness of counsel case, judicial scrutiny of an attorney's performance must be highly deferential and there is a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 696. Moreover, "because representation is an art and not a science, [e]ven the best criminal defense attorneys would not defend a particular client in the same way." Thomas, 46 F.3d 1506 (11th Cir. 1995) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689).

As a strategic decision, trial counsel's performance is virtually unassailable in postconviction litigation. See Maharaj v. State, 778 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 2000) (recognizing that counsel cannot be ineffective for strategic decisions made

Although Appellant argued below that counsel was ineffective per se under <u>United States v. Cronic</u>, 466 U.S. 648 (1984), Appellant concedes that, after the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Florida v. Nixon</u>, 543 U.S. 175 (2004), the <u>Strickland</u> analysis applies to this issue. Initial Brief of Appellant at 58.

during a trial). Within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, there is room for different strategies with no one strategy necessarily "correct" to the exclusion of all others. Felker v. Thomas, 52 F.3d 907 (11th Cir. 1995).

The second, or prejudice, prong required by Strickland is not established by merely showing that the outcome of the proceeding might have been different had counsel's performance been better. Rather, prejudice is established only with a showing that the result of the proceeding was fundamentally unfair or unreliable. Lockhart v. Fretwell, 506 U.S. The defendant bears the full responsibility of affirmatively proving prejudice because "[t]he government is not responsible for, and hence not able to prevent, attorney errors that will result in reversal of a conviction or sentence." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Furthermore, a claim of counsel if either ineffective assistance of fails t.he performance or the prejudice prong of Strickland is not proven. Kennedy v. State, 547 So. 2d 912 (Fla. 1989).

Contrary to Appellant's numerous assertions in his brief, the record clearly establishes that trial counsel Higgins did not concede that Cox fatally stabbed Thomas Baker, but instead, asserted a defense that another individual was responsible for the murder. Trial counsel acknowledged that Cox and Baker had a

fight and Cox allowed the victim to get up, but this was a factual issue that was clearly not in dispute given the fact that the fight was witnessed by numerous inmates at the prison. (DAR V15:962-63). Furthermore, as trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing, this version of events was consistent with their client's statements and his subsequent trial testimony. (PCR V4:247-51; V5:90-92).

Prior to trial, defense counsel investigated the case and spoke with their client repeatedly regarding possible defenses. As trial counsel explained at the evidentiary hearing, they made the strategic decision to assert the defense that Cox was not responsible for the fatal stab wounds, despite "conceding the obvious" fact that Cox had been in an altercation with the victim, to maintain credibility with the jury. Counsel's decision to acknowledge this fact was made with the knowledge that the State had at least 25-40 inmate witnesses available who had witnessed the fight between Cox and the victim. (PCR V5:90-92). Counsel specifically testified that they did not concede that Cox was responsible for the fatal stab wound, but asserted the defense that another inmate, Vincent "Pig" Maynard, was responsible for the fatal wound. (PCR V4:249; V5:107).

Appellant additionally contends that Higgins "concessions" were the result of his inexperience. Appellant argues that

Higgins was not qualified pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.112 to handle death penalty cases. As noted in Issue I, supra at 39-40, this rule was not in effect at the time of trial. Furthermore, the rule does not equate to a finding of per se ineffectiveness, rather, the defendant is still required to meet the standard set forth in Strickland when alleging ineffective assistance of counsel based on a lack of qualifications.

In addressing Appellant's allegations on this issue, the lower court properly analyzed Appellant's claim under the Strickland standard, and found, in pertinent part:

The Defendant's argument is based his conclusion that Mr. Higgins conceded that he had inflicted the fatal wound on the victim. The record, however, does not support this conclusion. A careful reading of his opening statement indicates that Mr. Higgins conceded only that a fight had taken place and that the Defendant had held the victim down and then let him up. Mr. Higgins testified that due to the number of inmates who witnessed the fight, he made a strategic decision to concede that the fight took Significantly, the Defendant admitted during his testimony that he had been involved in a fight with the victim, a clear indication that he supported trial counsel's theory of defense. Mr. Higgins testified that the defense strategy was based on the contention that Vincent Maynard, and not inflicted Defendant, had the fatal wound. Accordingly, this Court finds that the Defendant has not overcome the strong presumption that Mr. Higgins' actions were reasonable and а matter of trial strategy.

(PCR V2:357). Appellant has failed to demonstrate any error by the lower court in analyzing and denying Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the opening statements. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the lower court's decision.

B. Alleged Ineffectiveness During Voir Dire

Appellant argues that counsel was ineffective during voir failing to object to the prosecutor's mischaracterization of the law during voir dire. Appellant further asserts that trial counsel also mischaracterized the law and that counsel conducted voir dire in an unprofessional manner because counsel failed to probe into such areas as mental mitigation and questioned one of the potential jurors in front of the venire panel. After conducting an evidentiary hearing on Appellant's claim, the lower court denied the claim. submits that the court properly denied Appellant's claims based on a finding that Appellant failed to demonstrate both deficient performance and prejudice as required by Strickland.

On direct appeal to the Florida Supreme Court, Cox raised the substantive claim that the prosecutor's misstatements of the law were reversible error. See Cox v. State, 819 So. 2d 705, 717 (Fla. 2002). This Court analyzed the claim under the fundamental error analysis because trial counsel failed to

preserve the issue by objecting to the mischaracterizations. Nevertheless, this Court found that "the prosecutorial misrepresentation of the law was harmless error, and certainly does not constitute fundamental error." Id. Although the prejudice prong under the Strickland analysis is different from the harmless error standard, Cox is unable to establish prejudice from the failure of trial counsel to object to the prosecutor's misstatements. The second prong of Strickland requires a showing that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694.

As the lower court properly found when denying this claim, the prosecutor corrected his misstatements later during voir dire and informed the jury that the trial judge would provide them with the applicable instructions. Therefore, whatever mischaracterization of the law occurred by either trial counsel or the prosecutor, the mischaracterization was cured when the trial court properly instructed the jury on its role in the

The lower court noted that Appellant did not challenge the accuracy of the jury instructions utilized in this case. Moreover, this Court stated in its direct appeal opinion that the instructions were correct statements of the law. (PCR V2:359-60).

proceeding." (PCR V2:360). Accordingly, the lower court properly found that Appellant was unable to demonstrate any prejudice. See also Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1045-46 (Fla. 2003) (finding that because defendant could not show that the prosecutor's comments were fundamental error on direct appeal, he likewise cannot show that trial counsel's failure to object to the comments resulted in prejudice sufficient to undermine the outcome of the case under the prejudice prong of the Strickland test in postconviction proceedings).

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